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Re: Notice of Violation and Assessment of Civil Penalty 
 
 

DOCKET NO. 17-12-02 ASSESSMENT OF CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST 
CONNECTICUT NATURAL GAS CORPORATION 
FOR PIPELINE SAFETY VIOLATIONS 

 
 
 

The Public Utilities Regulatory Authority (PURA or Authority) hereby issues a 
Notice of Violation and Assessment of Civil Penalty (Notice) against the Connecticut 
Natural Gas Corporation (CNG or Company) pursuant to the General Statutes of 
Connecticut (Conn. Gen. Stat.) §§16-280e, 16-41(c) and 16-11.  Pursuant to §16-41(d), 
CNG has the right to request a hearing by delivering to the Authority a written 
application for a hearing within 20 days from the date of receipt of this Notice.  The right 
to request a hearing within 20 days is hereby extended to all Parties of record.  If a 
hearing is not requested, then this Notice shall, on the first day after the expiration of the 
20-day period, become a final order of the Authority, and the matters asserted or 
charged in the Notice shall be deemed admitted. 

 

STATE OF CONNECTICUT 
PUBLIC UTILITIES REGULATORY AUTHORITY 
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As described below, the Authority has reason to believe that CNG is in violation 
of Title 49 of the Code of Federal Regulations (49 CFR), Part 192 (Pipeline Safety 
Standards), specifically 49 CFR 192.603(b), which requires the Company to keep 
sufficient records to provide safety during maintenance and operations, 49 CFR 
192.619(a)(1) and 192.621(a)(1), which prohibit any person from operating a segment 
of plastic pipeline at a pressure that exceeds the design pressure of its weakest 
element, 49 CFR 192.703(b), which requires that each segment of pipeline that 
becomes unsafe be replaced, repaired or removed from service, 49 CFR 192.739(a)(3), 
which requires that each pressure regulating station be set to control at the correct 
pressure, 49 CFR 192.805(b), which requires that the Company have and follow a 
written qualification program that includes provisions to ensure that individuals are 
qualified to recognize and react to abnormal operating conditions and 49 CFR 
192.805(h), which requires that the Company’s written qualification program include 
training to ensure that individuals have the necessary knowledge and skills to ensure 
the safe operation of pipeline facilities.  The Authority also has reason to believe that 
CNG is in violation of §16-11-42(a) of the Regulations of Connecticut State Agencies 
(Conn. Agencies Regs.), which requires that the Company shall at all times use every 
effort to properly protect the public from danger and shall exercise due care to reduce 
the hazards to which employees, customers and others may be subjected by reason of 
its equipment and facilities. 
 

The Authority has reason to believe the existence of the following facts, which 
support the imposition of a civil penalty. 
 
Summary of Event 
 
 From March 20 through March 24, 2017, members of the PURA Gas Pipeline 
Safety Unit (GPSU) conducted a comprehensive procedures and records audit of CNG.  
On March 24, 2017, a member of the GPSU asked the CNG Manager of Gas 
Operations and Maintenance (O&M Manager) whether he was aware of any medium 
density polyethylene (MDPE) electrofusion tees ever being installed on CNG’s high 
density polyethylene (HDPE) pipe where the Maximum Allowable Operating Pressure 
(MAOP) was 100 pounds per square inch gauge (High Pressure).  The O&M Manager 
responded that he was not aware of any such installations at CNG.  Unconvinced by the 
response, the GPSU Supervisor of Technical Analysis (GPSU Supervisor) continued to 
question the O&M Manager about this issue and he eventually responded that 
sometimes ½ inch MDPE tees are installed on HDPE pipe. 
 

Following the exchange, the GPSU Supervisor posed the same question to the 
CNG Supervisor of Training and Operations Support during a phone conversation 
unrelated to the audit. The CNG Supervisor of Training and Operations Support 
indicated that CNG would need to get back to the GPSU regarding the issue.  The 
GPSU did not receive a response to this request prior to the conclusion of the audit. 
 
 On March 27, 2017, the GPSU Supervisor again called the CNG Supervisor of 
Training and Operations Support and left a voicemail message reminding him that the 
GPSU was still awaiting a response to the question posed to him on March 24, 2017.  
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Later that day, the O&M Manager called the GPSU Supervisor and stated that the 
Company had once identified a contractor who had been installing MDPE tees with 
outlets greater than ½ inch on HDPE pipe designed to operate at High Pressure inside 
of a condominium development.  The O&M Manager stated that training had been 
conducted to address the issue and that the affected tees had been dug up and 
replaced.  The GPSU Supervisor requested that CNG provide documentation for the 
replaced tees.  Following the conversation, the GPSU Supervisor left a voicemail 
message with the Manager of Engineering inquiring about the availability of Company 
records that would allow the GPSU to review whether or not other MDPE tees on High 
Pressure HDPE pipe existed in CNG’s system. 
 
 On March 29, 2017, the O&M Manager called the GPSU Supervisor to discuss 
the MDPE tee concerns.  The O&M Manager revealed that MDPE tees with outlets 
greater than ½ inch had been installed in multiple High Pressure systems in the CNG 
service territory.  The O&M Manager also indicated that CNG first became aware of the 
issue circa 2011-2012. 
 
 The GPSU scheduled a fact finding meeting at CNG on March 31, 2017.  During 
this meeting, CNG indicated that personnel had become aware of MDPE tees on High 
Pressure HDPE mains as early as 2011.  CNG believed that it became aware of the 
issue when a contractor reported it to a Company inspector.  A limited records review 
was performed at that time to determine the scope of possible MDPE tee installations.  
During the review the Company identified tees that were installed as early as 2007.  In 
early 2012, the Company excavated test holes to investigate some of the possible 
MDPE tee installation locations.  Of the 27 test holes, 24 contained MDPE tees installed 
to operate beyond their design specifications. 
 
 No additional remedial actions were performed on these MDPE tees by CNG 
prior to GPSU intervention in March 2017.  The affected systems continued to operate 
at pressures greater than the maximum design pressures of the tees until the pressures 
were reduced to safe operating levels by 8:31 p.m. on March 31, 2017, in accordance 
with a GPSU request. 
 
Investigation and Remediation 
 
 The GPSU launched an investigation to determine the scope of MDPE tee 
installations in High Pressure systems.  The GPSU was aware that outlets greater than 
½ inch on some MDPE tees are rated for pressures not to exceed 80 pounds per 
square inch gauge (psig).  The GPSU was also aware that the Company was operating 
HDPE distribution systems with MAOPs up to 100 psig.  A meeting with the Company 
was scheduled for April 5, 2017. 
 
 During the April 5th meeting, the GPSU conducted interviews and gathered 
information about the MDPE installations and the Company’s prior actions.  Eleven 
individuals were interviewed in total either during the meeting or through subsequent 
telephone conversations.  Interviews were conducted with personnel who were in the 
following positions at the time it is believed that the MDPE tee issues were first 
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identified (i.e., 2011-2012):  President and Chief Executive Officer - SCG and CNG; 
Director - Gas Operations; Director - Gas Design and Delivery; Director - Technical 
Services; Manager - Construction and Maintenance; Manager - Gas Engineering; 
Supervisor – Training; Supervisor - Construction and Maintenance (three individuals); 
and Engineer.  It is important to note that the titles listed above were those that existed 
in the 2011-2012 timeframe.  Some titles changed and some individuals were promoted 
or retired since 2011-2012.  All pertinent employees from the 2011-2012 timeframe to 
present were interviewed.  Twenty-four items were requested during the meeting.  
Thirteen of those items were either too extensive or not available to provide during the 
meeting.  Those additional items were requested by email the following day.  There 
were also five items which did not appear to be available at the time of the meeting.  
The GPSU requested that the Company provide these items if they were located at a 
later date. 
 
 The Company commenced an independent investigation and remediation of the 
MDPE tee installations.  CNG enlisted the help of a law firm, Bracewell LLP (Bracewell), 
to conduct its investigation.  The Company’s investigation was expected to collect some 
of the same information required by the April 6, 2017 GPSU request.  On April 11, 2017, 
the Company requested an extension to file various items.  This extension was granted 
by the GPSU. 
 
 Based on the results of the interviews and documentation collected during the 
meeting, the GPSU established that several employees were aware of the MDPE tee 
problems that were first identified in 2011.  An email dated June 8, 2011, forwarded to 
the CNG Supervisor of Training, from Garland Isaacs to Brenda Gabel, both of Georg 
Fisher Central Plastics (a manufacturer of MDPE tees), shows that CNG was clearly 
aware of the issue on June 7, 2011.  CNG personnel were likely aware of the MDPE tee 
problem prior to the date this issue was first documented.  According to the various 
sources interviewed, individuals at the supervisor, manager, director and president and 
chief executive officer levels were aware of the issue.  All evidence suggests that 
everyone involved agreed that the issue must be addressed.  The Company did not 
notify the GPSU of the issue nor seek guidance about how to address the problem.  
Evidence suggests that after considering different options available, the Company 
decided that the MDPE tees would be replaced.  The GPSU did not uncover any 
evidence that suggested that CNG purposely decided not to replace the MDPE tees.  
However, no remediation beyond that in the original condominium development was 
ever conducted.  The Company’s indefinite delay in implementing the solution it 
chose—replacing the MDPE tees—exposed customers to a prolonged safety hazard, 
which the Company could have remedied on an interim basis by immediately lowering 
the system pressures when the problem was first discovered.  Instead, as noted above, 
the system pressures were not lowered until the GPSU intervention on March 31, 2017.  
 

On April 25, 2017, the Company notified the GPSU that the Senior Director of 
Gas Operations (CNG/SCG) and the CNG O&M Manager involved in the original MDPE 
tee review had been terminated. 
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 To ensure reliability of service and restore previously established capacity, the 
Company developed a plan to remove the inadequate MDPE tees so that pressures 
could be increased back to prior levels.  The plan specified replacing MDPE tees with 
HDPE tees wherever service would be maintained.  Leak survey would be conducted 
on a continual basis throughout the project.  Based on discussion with the GPSU, the 
plan was modified to include areas where MDPE tees may have been installed during 
third party damage repairs.  Weekly updates would be provided to the GPSU to monitor 
CNG’s progress. 
 
 The MDPE Tee Replacement Plan started with a list of potential MDPE 
installations including 515 services and 275 mains installed in its 100 psig systems 
during the 2005-2012 timeframe.  Filtering the list using existing records allowed it to be 
consolidated to: 236 services, 93 mains, 10 bypasses and 25 purge points, or 364 
locations in total. 
 
 The Company excavated these 364 locations and found 100 locations where 
MDPE tees were installed.  The MDPE tees were replaced with tees rated for the 
operating pressures of the systems on which they were installed. 
 
 In addition to the 100 tees discovered during the original excavations, the 
Company also identified a housing development with 10 potential MDPE tees not 
included on the original list.  These 10 potential MDPE tees were excavated and eight 
were found to be MDPE tees.  The MDPE tees were replaced with tees rated for the 
operating pressures of the systems on which they were installed. 
 

No pressure test records were located for 11 HDPE tees installed during the 
original remediation effort at the condominium development.  As a result the Company 
also replaced those HDPE tees and pressure tested the services. 
 

To ensure that the scope of the investigation was adequate, CNG committed to 
excavate a sampling of installations occurring one year prior to the earliest, and one 
year following the latest, year in which MDPE installations were identified.  CNG 
performed 91 excavations of tees installed in 2004 and located five MDPE tees for 
replacement.  Forty excavations were performed on 2003 installations locating no tees 
requiring replacement.  The Company performed five additional excavations of 2000, 
2001 and 2002 installations as an additional safety measure.  All of the tees from those 
years were appropriately designed for the systems on which they were installed.  An 
additional 85 installations occurring in 2012 were also investigated.  Appropriate HDPE 
tees were found in all instances which helped to confirm that the 2011 scope was 
appropriate. 
 

Throughout the remediation process the PURA was provided with weekly 
updates on the progress of replacement.  On August 3, 2017, CNG and Bracewell 
provided the GPSU with presentations reviewing the results of the independent 
investigation and remediation efforts.  In total, 113 MDPE tees were removed from 
service and appropriate replacements were installed.  The longest in-service time for an 
individual MDPE tee was over 12.5 years, with the average in-service time being just 
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over 9.25 years.  No leaks were discovered during the continual leak survey performed 
during the remediation.  Based on the results of the review the GPSU granted CNG 
permission to restore the operating pressures of the affected systems to the previous 
levels. 
 

On August 17, 2017, CNG confirmed that it had completed a final leak survey of 
its HDPE systems thereby concluding the MDPE tee remediation project.  The 
Company reported that no leaks were discovered during the leak survey. 
 
Findings 
 

The facts as stated herein provide the Authority with reason to believe that CNG 
has committed the following statutory and regulatory violations: 
 

49 CFR 192.603(b) requires that the Operator keep records necessary to 
administer the procedures established under 49 CFR 192.605.  By not maintaining an 
accurate record of the MAOP of installed MDPE tees the Company was unable to 
ensure the safety of its operations.  This is demonstrated by the fact that the Company 
had to excavate hundreds of tees to determine whether they were in fact MDPE tees 
operating outside of design specifications.  As a group, the 113 MDPE tees installed on 
High Pressure lines were deficiently documented in the mapping system for 4,649 days.  
Based on these mapping concerns, CNG will be ordered to place its service lines into its 
geographic information system (GIS) and thus have the opportunity to reduce the civil 
penalty by up to $600,000.  In addition, CNG will be ordered to perform a pilot program 
to review the feasibility of a tracking and traceability program and thus have the 
opportunity to reduce the civil penalty by up to $150,000.  A successfully implemented 
tracking and traceability program would, by definition, allow the Company to locate 
specific parts and materials (as well as specific properties of parts/materials) through all 
phases of their use at the Company.  Procedural deficiencies appear to have existed 
throughout the duration of MDPE tee operation.  Therefore, CNG will be ordered to 
review, and modify as needed, its existing mapping procedures to ensure adequate 
information is recorded during all installations. 

 
49 CFR 192.619(a)(1) and 192.621(a)(1) require that no person operate a 

segment of plastic pipeline at a pressure that exceeds the design pressure of the 
weakest element in the segment.  By allowing MDPE tees to remain in service despite 
operating pressures which exceeded their design pressures, the Company failed to 
meet the requirements of this code section.  Collectively, the 113 tees which were 
removed from service operated outside of design specifications for a total of 375,717 
days. 

 
49 CFR 192.703(b) requires each segment of pipeline that becomes unsafe to be 

replaced, repaired or removed from service.  The affected pipelines became unsafe 
when the inadequately rated MDPE tees were installed.  The pipelines were not made 
safe until March 31, 2017, when the GPSU requested that the operating pressures be 
reduced.  This is 4,537 days from the date of the first tee installation and 2,124 days 
from the earliest documented date that CNG had knowledge of the tee issue. 
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49 CFR 192.739(a)(3) requires that each pressure limiting station, relief device 

(except rupture discs), and pressure regulating station must be subjected to inspections 
and tests to determine that it is set to control or relieve at the correct pressure 
consistent with the pressure limits of §192.201(a).  Although the Company performed 
such inspections, it did not set the pressures correctly since a properly established 
MAOP (based on the design pressure rating of the MDPE tees in service) plus 
allowable buildup should not have exceeded 88 psig.  In total 120 inspections were 
performed while MDPE tees were in service on the systems supplied by the inspected 
stations.  Set pressures recorded during those inspections range from 91 to 100 psig.  
Overpressure protection set pressures during the same period range from 98 to 110 
psig.  Therefore, the Company violated 49 CFR 192.739(a)(3) in 120 distinct instances 
because each overpressure protection set pressure was higher than the 88 psig limit 
imposed by §192.201(a). 
 

49 CFR 192.805(b) requires that the Company have and follow a written 
qualification program that shall include provisions to ensure through evaluation that 
individuals performing covered tasks are qualified to recognize and react to abnormal 
operating conditions which may indicate a condition exceeding design limits.  By failing 
to recognize that the MDPE tees used were suitable only for a design pressure up to 80 
psig, the individuals responsible for installing and placing the MDPE tees in service 
demonstrated that the qualification program did not adequately ensure that they were 
capable of recognizing and reacting to an in-service condition exceeding design limits 
during each of the 113 instances where an MDPE tee was installed.  While evaluation 
deficiencies were demonstrated by the installers involved in these 113 MDPE tee 
installations, deficiencies in the evaluation process affected all individuals tested under 
the program.  The impact of evaluation deficiencies is therefore much broader than 
demonstrated by those specifically cited in this notice. 
 

49 CFR 192.805(h) requires that the Company’s written qualification program 
include provisions to provide training, as appropriate, to ensure that individuals 
performing covered tasks have the necessary knowledge and skills to perform the tasks 
in a manner that ensures the safe operation of its pipeline facilities.  By installing the 
inadequately rated MDPE tees and placing them in service the personnel demonstrated 
a lack of knowledge necessary to ensure the safe operation of the affected pipeline 
facilities during each of the 113 instances where an MDPE tee was installed. 
 

Conn. Agencies Regs. §16-11-42(a) requires the Company to use every effort to 
properly protect the public from danger and exercise due care to reduce the hazards to 
which employees, customers and others may be subjected by reason of its equipment 
and facilities.  By allowing MDPE tees to stay in service in its 100 psig MAOP systems, 
the Company failed to use every effort to protect the public from danger and reduce the 
hazards to which employees, customers and others may be subjected. 
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Safety History 
 
 CNG has been implicated in several violations of the minimum pipeline safety 
standards in recent history.  Specifically, CNG has been cited for 37 violations in 14 
separate cases, of which 9 were docketed civil penalty cases since the beginning of 
2015 (not including pending cases or damage prevention penalties).  Civil penalties 
associated with these docketed cases total $339,700, with an average of $67,940 per 
case.  The potential safety impact, the lack of ability to recognize and react and the 
failure to take corrective action in this case was many magnitudes greater than that in 
the other recent cases.  The civil penalty amount has been calculated accordingly. 
 
False Statements to the Authority 
 
 During the course of this investigation, a number of statements were made to the 
Authority which were later discovered to be false.  Conn. Gen. Stat. §16-33 provides: 
 

Obstructing authority; false entries and returns to; penalty. Any 
person who wilfully makes any false return or report to the Public Utilities 
Regulatory Authority, or to any member thereof, or to any agent or any 
employee acting therefor, or who testifies falsely to any material fact in 
any matter wherein an oath or affirmation is required or authorized, or who 
makes any false entry or memorandum upon any account, book, paper, 
record, report or statement of any company, or who wilfully destroys, 
mutilates, alters or by any other means or device falsifies or destroys the 
record of any such account, book, paper, record, report or statement, with 
the intent to mislead or deceive the authority, or any member thereof, or 
any agent or employee acting therefor, or who wilfully obstructs or hinders 
the authority, or any of its members, agents or employees, in the making 
of any examination of the accounts, affairs or condition of any company, 
and any person who, with like intent, aids or abets another in any of the 
acts hereinbefore set forth, shall be guilty of a class D felony. 
 

The Authority’s ability to conduct accurate and unbiased investigations is greatly 
influenced by the cooperation of the personnel it interacts with and the information it 
receives from those personnel.  The Authority must act to protect the integrity of 
information provided to the Authority in its GPSU investigations, as an honest exchange 
of information is of the utmost importance to the safety of the public and other company 
personnel.  As the Authority continues to review the circumstances surrounding this 
investigation it will determine whether it is appropriate to make referrals to the relevant 
authorities pursuant to Conn. Gen. Stat. §16-33.  Lying to the Authority endangers the 
public and will not be tolerated. 
 
Level of Civil Penalties  
 

Failure to comply with the Pipeline Safety Standards is a violation of 49 United 
States Code (USC) Section 60122(a)(1) of the Pipeline Safety Laws, Conn. Gen. Stat. 
§16-280b, which provides that each person who engages in the transportation of gas or 
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who owns or operates pipeline facilities shall comply with the Pipeline Safety Standards, 
and Conn. Gen. Stat. §16-41, which provides that each public service company shall 
obey, observe and comply with all applicable regulations adopted by the PURA.  Conn. 
Gen. Stat. §16-280e provides for a civil penalty for such violations.  Said penalty shall 
not exceed $200,000 for each violation for each day, except that the penalty shall not 
exceed $2,000,000 for any related series of violations. 
 

Failure to comply with Conn. Agencies Regs. §16-11-42(a) is also a violation of 
Conn. Gen. Stat. §16-41.  Any Company which the Authority finds has failed to obey or 
comply with a PURA regulation shall be fined not more than $10,000 for each offense.  
Each distinct violation of a regulation shall be a separate offense and, in case of a 
continued violation, each day thereof shall be deemed a separate offense. 
 
 The following instances of violation contributed to the final civil penalty amount: 
 

o 113 instances of records which violate 49 CFR 192.603(b) for not 
including essential information pertaining to the installation of MDPE tees 
in High Pressure systems.  The deficient records made it impossible for 
CNG to make available critical information about each of the 113 tees 
installed, specifically the material of installed fittings, to personnel 
performing Operations and Maintenance activities.  As a result, CNG was 
forced to locate the MDPE tees through physical excavation of the 
facilities.  The maximum penalty allowed by statute for each invalid record 
is $200,000.  Therefore, the maximum penalty allowed by statute for these 
113 instances of violation is $2,000,000. 

 
o 113 instances of over-pressurization of a segment in violation of 49 CFR 

192.619(a)(1) and 192.621(a)(1).  Each High Pressure segment where an 
MDPE tee was installed was operated at a pressure which exceeded the 
design pressure of that tee.  The longest operating tee alone, which 
operated outside of design specifications for 4,537 days, is sufficient to 
reach the maximum penalty allowed by statute of $2,000,000 for this 
violation. 

 
o 113 instances of the failure of CNG to replace, repair or remove from 

service High Pressure segments of pipeline which became unsafe in 
accordance with 49 CFR 192.703(b).  Each High Pressure segment where 
an MDPE tee was installed became unsafe immediately upon the 
installation of that tee.  The longest operating tee alone, which operated 
outside of design specifications for 4,537 days, is sufficient to reach the 
maximum penalty allowed by statute of $2,000,000 for this violation. 

 
o 120 instances of inspections and tests during which the overpressure 

control set-points were not adjusted in accordance with 49 CFR 
192.739(a)(3).  The maximum penalty allowed by statute for each 
inspection or test conducted is $200,000.  Therefore, the maximum 
penalty allowed by statute for these 120 instances is $2,000,000. 
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o 113 instances of a deficient qualification program that did not ensure 

through evaluation that individuals performing covered tasks were 
qualified to recognize and react to abnormal operating conditions, 
specifically the installation of fittings not rated for the operating pressures, 
in accordance with 49 CFR 192.805(b).  Installers of MDPE tees were 
unable to recognize the deficiencies of those fittings throughout the period 
of their installation.  Given that MDPE tees were installed on High 
Pressure systems 113 times from October 28, 2004 to May 6, 2011, the 
maximum penalty allowed by statute for these instances is $2,000,000. 

 
o 113 instances of MDPE tee installations demonstrating that CNG’s 

qualification program did not provide adequate training to ensure that 
individuals performing covered tasks had the necessary knowledge and 
skills to perform those tasks in a manner that ensured the safe operation 
of the pipeline in accordance with 49 CFR 192.805(h).  By installing MDPE 
tees in High Pressure systems, the installers were creating an unsafe 
condition thereby demonstrating that the qualification program was 
insufficient.  Given that 113 MDPE tees were installed in High Pressure 
systems from October 28, 2004 to May 6, 2011 the maximum penalty 
allowed by statute for this instance is $2,000,000.     

 
o 113 instances of improperly rated MDPE tees installed in High Pressure 

systems representing a danger to the public, customers and employees of 
CNG.  CNG failed to use every effort to properly protect the public from 
danger and exercise due care to reduce the hazards to which employees, 
customers and others were subjected by reason of its equipment and 
facilities as required by Conn. Agencies Regs. §16-11-42(a).  113 MDPE 
tees operated outside of design specifications for an average of 9.11 
years each.  The maximum penalty allowed by statute is $10,000 per 
MDPE tee installation per day. 

 
In determining the amount of the penalty for these violations, the Authority 

considered the following criteria set forth in 49 USC Section 60122(b): 
 

(1) the [Authority] shall consider— 
(A) the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation, including 

adverse impact on the environment; 
(B) with respect to the violator, the degree of culpability, any history of 

prior violations, and any effect on ability to continue doing business; 
and 

(C) good faith in attempting to comply; and 
 

(2) the [Authority] may consider— 
(A) the economic benefit gained from the violation without any reduction 

because of subsequent damages; and 
(B) other matters that justice requires. 
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The scope and potential impact of the violations listed above is far greater than 

previous violations discovered at CNG or at any other gas company under the 
Authority’s jurisdiction.  It is fortunate that no serious accidents occurred as a result of 
these installations.  The Authority will not tolerate the risk created by errors of this 
magnitude.  This is the most significant pipeline safety penalty ever issued.  The 
Authority has shown some restraint in the level of penalties assessed in this case based 
on a variety of factors, including the Company’s actions of launching an internal 
investigation, terminating employees, developing and implementing a remediation plan 
and working cooperatively with the GPSU after the initial stage of the investigation and 
during the resulting remediation process. 
 

Despite this current level of cooperation, the failure of CNG to timely remediate 
the violations despite senior management’s knowledge of the issue raises concerns 
about management’s capacity to prioritize and implement remediation of a known 
condition that endangered public safety for a prolonged period of time.  The Authority 
has the obligation to ensure that CNG’s senior management has thoroughly evaluated 
the “lessons learned” from what appears to be a significant management failure and that 
the Company has taken all appropriate remedial measures to ensure that it is in full 
compliance with statutory and regulatory requirements governing gas pipeline safety.  
As such, the Authority will conduct a management audit to evaluate senior 
management’s response to this issue and gas pipeline safety issues generally.  Any 
findings of further statutory violations arising from the management audit may subject 
the Company to additional penalties or prudence review as appropriate.  As such, 
nothing in this Notice should be construed as a determination or final resolution 
regarding the prudence of management’s actions regarding the facts described herein. 
 

The Company is reminded that open and honest cooperation with the GPSU is 
the only way that the Authority’s and the Company’s respective responsibilities to 
ensure public safety will be achieved.  It is important to note that had CNG immediately 
addressed the issue, informed the GPSU and worked cooperatively toward a solution 
when this issue was first discovered by the Company in 2011, PURA likely would not 
have issued a penalty of this magnitude. 
 

As of October 20, 2017, the Company has spent an estimated $2,959,000 on 
remediation efforts and investigation by outside counsel.  Including the proposed civil 
penalty, the Company’s total expenditure to address this issue will be nearly 
$4,500,000.  Pursuant to Order No. 6 below, CNG will not be allowed to recover any of 
these costs from ratepayers. 
 

Although the civil penalty in this Notice is assessed to CNG, it may be possible 
for the Company to recover from other sources all or some of the civil penalty.  Since 
the ultimate responsibility for compliance with the Pipeline Safety Laws lies with CNG, it 
is not reasonable to allow the Company to recover all or some of the civil penalty and 
hence bear a lessened financial responsibility.  Therefore, pursuant to Order No. 4 
below, CNG will return to ratepayers any part of the civil penalty recovered from another 
source. 
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Other Companies 
 

During the course of 2017, the same types of comprehensive procedures and 
records audits with the same types of questions were performed on The Southern 
Connecticut Gas Company, Yankee Gas Services Company d/b/a Eversouce Energy 
and the Norwich Department of Public Utilities.  None of these companies were found to 
have similar violations. 
 
Conclusion 
 

The Authority has reason to believe that CNG failed to install fittings which were 
adequately designed to function at the operating pressures of its systems.  Records of 
fittings were not sufficient to indicate the type of tees installed in CNG’s system.  As a 
result, it was not possible for the Company to determine which tees were operating 
outside of design specifications and to effectively ensure safety during operations and 
maintenance activities while the MDPE tees remained in service.  As a result, CNG is in 
violation of 49 CFR 192.603(b).  The MAOP of the High Pressure systems was set 
higher than the design pressure of the MDPE tees installed in those systems.  By 
allowing MDPE tees to remain in service despite an operating pressure which exceeded 
their design pressures, the Company is in violation of 49 CFR 192.619(a)(1) and 
192.621(a)(1).  Segments of CNG pipeline operating at greater than 80 psig became 
unsafe the moment MDPE tees were installed.  Since CNG was not able to replace, 
repair or remove from service the affected lines prior to GPSU intervention, it is in 
violation of 49 CFR 192.703(b).  Pressure regulating systems installed on the affected 
systems were set to control pipeline pressure commensurate with the established 100 
psig MAOP.  CNG is in violation of 49 CFR 192.739(a)(3) since its pressure regulating 
stations were set to maintain pressure at levels exceeding a properly established MAOP 
plus allowable pressure buildup of 10%.  By failing to recognize that the MDPE tees 
were being installed on systems operating above their design limits, the individuals 
responsible for installing and placing the MDPE tees in service demonstrated that the 
qualification program did not ensure they were capable of recognizing and reacting to 
such a condition.  The Operator is therefore in violation of 49 CFR 192.805(b).  By 
installing inadequately rated MDPE tees and placing them in service, CNG personnel 
demonstrated that training was unable to provide them with the knowledge necessary to 
ensure the safe operation of the affected pipeline facilities.  As a result, CNG is in 
violation of 49 CFR 192.805(h).  By allowing MDPE tees to stay in service in its High 
Pressure systems, the Company failed to use every effort to properly protect the public 
from danger and reduce the hazards to which employees, customers and others were 
subjected by reason of its equipment and facilities.  Consequently, CNG is also in 
violation of Conn. Gen. Stat. §16-11-42(a). 
 
Orders 
 

For the following Orders, submit one original copy of the required documentation 
to the Executive Secretary, Ten Franklin Square, New Britain, CT 06051, and file an 
electronic version through the Authority's website at www.ct.gov/pura.  Submissions 
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filed in compliance with Authority Orders must be identified by all three of the following:  
Docket Number, Title and Order Number. 
 
1. CNG is assessed a civil penalty in the sum of $1,500,000, reduced by up to 

$750,000 given the Company’s compliance with Orders No. 2 and 3 herein.  
Payment of $750,000 shall be made payable to the “Treasurer, State of 
Connecticut” and delivered to the Public Utilities Regulatory Authority, Ten 
Franklin Square, New Britain, CT 06051 no later than 20 days from the date of 
receipt of this Notice. 

 
2. In lieu of the full civil penalty amount, CNG is ordered to spend up to $600,000 of 

the civil penalty amount to place service lines into its GIS system by January 31, 
2019.  Any of the $600,000 not spent by January 31, 2019, shall be made 
payable to the “Treasurer, State of Connecticut” and be delivered to the Public 
Utilities Regulatory Authority, Ten Franklin Square, New Britain, CT 06051 no 
later than February 7, 2019.  CNG shall file documentation with the Authority, no 
later than 30 days from the date of the receipt of this Notice, showing the amount 
of money spent, description of work provided for the money spent and progress 
of the mapping effort.  These compliance filings shall continue every 30 days until 
the $600,000 has been spent or January 31, 2019, whichever comes first. 

 
3. In lieu of the full civil penalty amount, CNG is ordered to spend up to $150,000 of 

the civil penalty amount on a pilot program to review the feasibility of 
implementing a tracking and traceability program by January 31, 2019.  Any of 
the $150,000 not spent by January 31, 2019, shall be made payable to the 
“Treasurer, State of Connecticut” and be delivered to the Public Utilities 
Regulatory Authority, Ten Franklin Square, New Britain, CT 06051 no later than 
February 7, 2019.  CNG shall file documentation with the Authority, no later than 
30 days from the date of the receipt of this Notice, showing the amount of money 
spent, description of work provided for the money spent and progress of the 
tracking and traceability program.  These compliance filings shall continue every 
30 days until the $150,000 has been spent or January 31, 2019, whichever 
comes first. 

 
4. If CNG recovers any, or all, of the civil penalty assessed in Order No. 1, the 

money spent on Orders No. 2 or 3, and/or any money spent on investigation or 
remediation efforts, including but not limited to Bracewell fees, tee excavation 
costs or tee replacement costs, from another source (e.g., a contractor or an 
insurance company), the recovered money must be returned to ratepayers 
through the Purchased Gas Adjustment clause.  CNG shall file documentation 
with the Authority, no later than 20 days from the date of receipt of this Notice, 
showing the amount of money recovered, or if no money will be recovered, a 
statement to that effect.  If CNG has not come to final resolution on this issue at 
the time of its compliance filing, the Company shall continue to file updates with 
the Authority every 30 days until it is fully compliant with this order. 
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5. CNG shall review, and modify as needed, its existing mapping procedures to 
ensure adequate information is recorded during all fitting installations to be able 
to accurately determine the MAOP.  CNG shall file this procedure with the 
Authority no later than 20 days from the date of receipt of this Notice. 

 
6. CNG shall not recover from ratepayers any money spent on investigation or 

remediation efforts, including but not limited to: Bracewell fees, tee excavation 
costs, tee replacement costs, the $600,000 it may spend on GIS mapping and 
the $150,000 it may spend on a tracking and traceability pilot program. 
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DOCKET NO. 17-12-02 ASSESSMENT OF CIVIL PENALTY AGAINST 

CONNECTICUT NATURAL GAS CORPORATION 
FOR PIPELINE SAFETY VIOLATIONS 

 
This Decision is adopted by the following Commissioners:  
 
 

 
 
Katherine S. Dykes 
 
 
John W. Betkoski, III 
 
 
Michael A. Caron 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

 The foregoing is a true and correct copy of the Decision issued by the Public 
Utilities Regulatory Authority, State of Connecticut, and was forwarded by Certified Mail 
to all parties of record in this proceeding on the date indicated. 
 
 

    
    
    
 

 

  
 
 
January 31, 2018 

 Jeffrey R. Gaudiosi, Esq.  Date 
 Executive Secretary   
 Public Utilities Regulatory Authority   

 


